UNITED
NATIONS C R C

Convention on the paa

Rights of the Child CRO O/ SR 322

27 Novenber 1996

ENGLI SH
Oiginal: FRENCH

COMM TTEE ON THE RIGHTS OF THE CH LD
Thi rteent h sessi on
SUWARY RECORD OF THE 322nd MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, CGeneva,
on Thursday, 26 Septenber 1996, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson : Ms. BELEMBAOXO

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPCRTS COF STATES PARTI ES ( conti nued )

Initial report of NNgeria (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submtted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenmorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the neetings of the Committee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued shortly
after the end of the session.

GE. 96-18323 (E)



CRC/ U SR 322
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.05 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS COF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item4) ( conti nued)

Initial report of NNgeria (continued)(CRCC 8/Add.26; CRCC 12/WpP. 4; replies
of the N gerian Government, two docunents without a synbol, one in English
translated into French and the other in English)

1. The nenbers of the N gerian delegation resuned their places at the
Committee table .

2. Ms. SARDENBERG asked whether the action plan to neet the objectives of
the World Summit for Children was actually being inplemented in N geria and
whether it had served to establish a strategy for children's rights there.

3. M. HAMVARBERG said that it was unfortunate that paragraphs 37 to 41 of
the report (CRC C 8/ Add. 26) dealing with general principles were too succinct
and did no nore than describe the | egal situation. He hoped that information
coul d be provided on measures adopted in areas other than the lawto take into
account the opinion of the child. He also considered that |egislation on
non-di scrimnati on was not enough in itself and that public awareness
programres were needed. He asked for further information on the way in which
the Nigerian authorities interpreted the principles to which he had referred
and on the practical measures that they were taking, in particular to take
into account the inpact of their decisions on the position of children.

4. Mss MASON asked what the | egal age of najority was and whether there
were different ages for different purposes and in the different States that
made up Ngeria. D d narriage give mnors the same civil and political rights
as adults and what was the age of crimnal responsibility?

5. M. KOOSO/ considered that the plan to bring down the age of majority
from21 to 18 was a step in the right direction. However, in view of the fact
that the age differed according to the civil right involved, did the N gerian
authorities intend to grant all the fundanental rights set out in the
Convention to all mnors under 18 years of age?

6. Ms. KARP asked what the | egal age for marriage was in N geria, whether
it was different for girls and for boys, what neasures the authorities
intended to take to end the practice of early marriage, whether the

i nheritance rules were different for boys and girls and what the | aw provi ded
in the case of children born out of wedl ock. She also w shed to know how t he
contradictions between the principles of Islamand the principle of

non-di scrimnation were resolved in matters of inheritance. Lastly, how was
the new concept of children's participation taken into account by

prof essionals and authorities and had any steps been taken or woul d they be
taken, in that regard?

7. Ms. SARDENBERG asked what plans the authorities had to encourage
children's participation in social life in general, not just through
legislation, but also in daily life.




CRC T SR 322
page 3

8. Ms. BADRAN asked whether it was not with the interpretation of the
Koran rather than with the text itself that the general principles of the
Convention were in contradiction. Had there been discussions with religious
representatives fromcountries which interpreted the Koran in a nore

pr ogr essi ve manner ?

9. In connection with education, she asked for details about specia
schools for girls. She also wi shed to know if steps had been taken to help
famlies send their children to school and to persuade themto do so.

10. Ms. ATTAH (N geria) assured the menbers of the Committee that all the
steps taken in areas of concern to children were based on the best interests
of the child. The draft children's decree should put an end to disparity of
treatnment according to age. At present, no age was fixed for narriage, either
for girls or for boys. Nevertheless, the age of 18 years proposed in the
draft decree shoul d di scourage early marri ages.

11. M. ADEYEM (N geria) explained that the age of legal majority was fixed
at 21 years under common law. The legislation then established different ages
for different purposes. However, it had not fixed any age for narriage, which
under common | aw was 14, but in customary |law varied fromtribe to tribe and
was not the same for boys and girls. Marriage did not give the child any

extra civil rights

12. Wth regard to rights of inheritance the |egislation made no

di stinction, unlike custormary law or Islamic |law. Inheritance was governed by
the regi me under which the parents were married. However, under article 39.2
of the Constitution, there could be no discrimnation based on the
circunstances of the child s birth, and that also went for children born out
of wedl ock. The draft decree reproduced the provisions of the Constitution
concer ni ng non-di scrimnation and defined the areas in which the child's
opinion had to be taken into account.

13. As far as the national action plan was concerned the National Child
Rights Inplenmentati on Commttee took account of it in fornulating strategies
that would be followed at the national, State and | ocal |evels.

14, M ss MASON asked the N gerian del egation to explain what was to be
under st ood by the term “wi dowhood practices” in paragraph 28 of the report.
Wre those practices based on custonary law, or nerely tradition, and did they
have any influence on the inplenentation of the Convention? Wre they not
prohi bited by | aw?

15. Ms. EUFEM O asked how the opi nion of different specialists - doctors,
soci al workers, police officers - and other persons dealing with children in
difficulty was taken into account, particularly in I egal proceedings, in order
to safeguard the child s best interests.

16. Ms. SARDENBERG asked for information about the situation in N geria
with respect to the achi evenent of the education and health objectives of the
VWrld Summit for Children. Wuld the md-termobjectives be achi eved and




CRC/ U SR 322
page 4

woul d adj ustments be necessary? Was the Governnent mneeting any practica
obstacles in ensuring children's participation in decisions affecting them
that were taken in the famly, at school and in society at |arge?

17. M. KOOSOV pointed out that the Iist of grounds for discrimnation that
were forbidden under article 2 of the Convention was not exhaustive, but
nerely indicative. He asked whether the list would be incorporated in ful
into the final text of the draft children's decree. The principle of respect
for children's opinions applied not only in judicial and adm nistrative
proceedi ngs, in accordance with article 2 of the Convention, but also in nany
areas that were not nentioned in the NNgerian report. He was thinking in
particular of the right of the child to give his opinion on his education and
famly life under article 12 of the Convention, which was nuch w der in scope
than article 2. The application of that aspect of the Convention required not
just the adoption of |egal provisions, but also practical measures to inform
and educate the persons concerned and the popul ation at |arge.

18. Lastly, he wi shed to know whether Decree No. 1 of 1984 suspending the
constitutional provisions safeguarding certain basic human rights was still in
force.

19. Ms. ATTAH (N geria) said that the child s best interests had been the
guiding principle of Ngeria s policy even before the adoption of the
Convention. Integrating the Convention into national |aw had nerely all owed
the Nigerian authorities to strengthen national |egislation in areas where
there were shortcomngs. Nevertheless, training and informati on programmes
were still necessary to ensure that specialists dealing with children (police
judges, social workers) and parents knew about the basic provisions of the
Conventi on.

20. She reiterated that the provisions of the Convention and the QAU African
Charter for the R ghts and Wl fare of the Children had been incorporated in
full into national |egislation and that her country was deternmined to apply
them scrupul ously. The inplenentati on of those provisions was, however,

i npeded by practical difficulties, specifically because of the inadequate
training and informati on given to the various categories of staff dealing with
the protection of the child. 1In addition, the protection of the child had
been entrusted to several mnistries in succession, which nmeant there could be
no consi stent and coherent action, since each in turn had stressed those
aspects of the situation of children that were nost closely related to its
field of conpetence. Nevertheless, the Federal Mnistry of Wnen's Affairs
and Soci al Devel oprent had recently taken over and intended to pursue a policy
concentrating nore on inplenentation of the provisions of the Convention. As
an exanple, it had undertaken an informati on and public awareness canpaign in
cooperation with UNESCO

21. Since pronul gation of the Constitution of 1979, any discrim nation

agai nst children on any grounds was forbi dden. However she acknow edged t hat
rural areas were at a de facto di sadvantage in conparison with urban areas
because they were further fromthe centres of decision-making. |In addition,
as far as education was concerned, the enphasis had in the past been on
teaching boys rather than girls, but the gap between the position of girls and



CRC T SR 322
page 5

boys was narrow ng rapidly, except in a few regi ons where progress was bei ng
hel d back by the practice of marrying girls early. However, the authorities
were taking action to discourage that practice.

22. Ms. HOLOMY (N geria) said that because school curricula were
standardi zed, all pupils in primary and secondary schools acquired the
necessary know edge that was of practical inportance for them particularly in
nutrition and heal th.

23. Wth respect to the training of teachers in areas concerned with the
rights of children, the Governnent had taken effective steps that would
considerably inprove the training of prinmary school teachers, including the
introduction of a national certificate in education and the establishnent of
the National Teachers' Council.

24, As far as inequality between boys and girls in educati on was concer ned,
the establishnent of special schools for girls was only a mnor adjustment in
the general system of education, designed to acconmobdate certain |oca

cultural and religious sensitivities concerning co-education in schools taking
girls and boys after the age of puberty. It applied only to the secondary
level, only in certain areas and only to limted nunbers of pupils.

25. Wth respect to the participation of children in the decisions that
affected them she said that children could give their opinion on decisions
concerning their education fromthe secondary |evel onwards. Cenerally
speaking, the authorities considered that the best way of ensuring respect for
the childs best interests was to give himan education that fully pronoted his
devel opnent in all areas. To achieve that aim the Government had not
hesitated, for instance, to call upon the financial assistance of the

Wrld Bank, which was helping it to cope with the difficulties involved in the
structural adjustnent programre.

26. Ms. ATTAH (N geria) explained that the inheritance and w dowhood
practices referred to by some nenbers of the Conmttee were connected with
traditional forns of marriage and applied in only one tribal group. The
Federal Mnistry of Winens Affair's and Soci al Devel opment was organi zi ng
wor kshops on the probl emand on ways of conbating it.

27. M. ADEYEM (N geria), replying to M. Kolosov’s question, said that the
provi sions of the 1984 decree suspendi ng the exercise of certain basic human
rights had been abrogated in 1990. The constitutional provisions safeguardi ng
human rights could be duly invoked in N gerian courts. Respect for hunan
rights was thus fully ensured in practice in N geria

28. Ms. KARP, referred to paragraph 39 of the report, which stated that the
i dea of the best interests of the child had been respected in N geria even

bef ore the Convention had been ratified. Wthout doubting the sincerity of
that statenent, she considered that the situation before and after the

i npl enentation of the Convention could not be the same. The idea of the
child s best interests as enbodied in the Convention nore or |ess sunmmed up
the other principles it set forth, which were ained at making the child a
subject inits own right, and not the object of conflicting interests, e.g. in
the event of narital differences. She therefore asked whether there was

evi dence to support the infornation given in the report in that regard.

However that mght be, ratification of the Convention ought to oblige the



CRC T SR 322
page 6

State to inplenment a nunber of neasures to educate persons involved in the
upbringing of children. Social workers, for instance, had their own idea of
the best interests of the child, which mght be based on adm nistrative or
budget ary considerations. It was therefore necessary to train such persons to
ensure that the interests of the child were truly at the heart of their work
in accordance with the spirit of the Convention. On another point, she asked
whet her the N gerian Government was considering involving children in

di sciplinary procedures in school s.

29. Mss MASON drew the N gerian delegation's attention to the final
observations concerning N geria adopted by the Human Rights Committee, which
had expressed particul ar concern at the suspension of certain essential human
rights, such as the right to a fair trial, and at the mlitary authorities’
practi ce of governing by presidential decree, over which the courts had no
control. The independence of the judiciary was a prerequisite for denocracy.
Noting that there was a question of conpensation being paid to victins of
breaches of fundanental rights, she asked for information on the nunber of
cases in which the Conmm ssion on Huiman R ghts had taken acti on concerning
arbitrary arrests and on the results.

30. M. HAMVARBERG , referring to the question of relations between children
and the nedia, pointed out that article 17 of the Convention had two aspects.
The first concerned the free access of children to sources of information,
whil e the second was designed to protect themfromthe bad effects of the
nmedi a, and particularly fromviol ence and pornography. In that area

| egi sl ati on al one was not enough, and he asked for details on nmeasures adopted
to encourage children’ s participation and to educate parents. Referring to
article 19 of the Convention, he asked for clarification on the |egislative
provi sions adopted to protect children fromall forns of violence and on any
rel evant proceedings in the courts.

31. Ms. EUFEM O asked whether bul | yi ng was w despread in schools, and if
so, what was done about the offender and for the victim That nmatter was
often swept under the carpet, but it was an inmportant one, for a child m ght
perpetuate bad habits and transnmt themto his own children in later life.

32. Ms. ATTAH (N geria) entirely agreed with the view that inplenenting the
Conventi on required new approaches, involving a nmajor effort to educate
children on the one hand and parents, judges, the police and social workers on
the other. Such programmes were still at an early stage but the Governnent
was resolved to put theminto practice. The participation of children in

di sciplinary councils in schools had been authorized in N geria for severa
years. Bullying was unfortunately a fact of life, even at university. At the
secondary | evel, when nmenbers of the teaching body knew about cases of

bul lying, they could take nmeasures against the culprit, ranging fromthe

wi thdrawal of privileges to expulsion. However, greater enphasis should be

pl aced on training teachers to make children aware of their rights, and al so
of their duties.



CRC/ C SR 322
page 7

33. As far as the nedia were concerned, ratification of the Convention had
led to the launching of a programme called “Speak out”, designed to encourage
children to express thensel ves. The Daily Tines , the official government
newspaper, like nost of the daily papers, contained special pages for
children. There were al so children's nmagazi nes, but not enough of them To
remedy the problemof the cost of such publications, copies were nade

avail able to pupils free of charge in nost schools. The Censorship Board was
conbating screen violence, in particular, by establishing categories of filns,
so as to limt children's access to certain productions. However, the
Governnent had rmuch nore trouble controlling the video cassette trade

34. Vi ol ence against children took place essentially within the famly. It
was indeed tine it was stopped. As an exanple to be foll owed, she nentioned a
wor kshop on conjugal violence that was taking place that very day in N geri a.

35. Ms. NZEAKO (N geria) explained that the idea of the best interests of
the child was taken into consideration not only in juvenile courts but also in
others, including those dealing with matrinonial cases. |In questions of
custody, the famly environnment, the educational aspects and the econom c
situation of the parents were determ nant factors. Decisions were nmade on the
basis of statements by both parties and the evidence of the child if he was
considered sufficiently mature. However, it must be realized that the
situation could be a particularly traunatic one for the child: that was why a
judge would not allow himto give evidence if he considered himto be too
young or too vulnerable. Wth respect to child abuse, the crimnal courts in
N geria had always dealt with such cases, whether they involved ill-treatnent,
rape or sexual abuse. That being so, ratification of the Convention neant
that further training ought to be organized for judges and police officers,
and that woul d be done.

36. Turning to the question of conpensation for victins of torture, she said
that there was already |egislation on the subject, which was applied in
everyday practice by the courts. The sane was true of cases of human rights
viol ations, which could be brought before the Court of Appeal or the Suprene
Court. She had certified copies of judgenents in such cases, which she could
make avail able to nmenbers of the Conmttee. Mreover, the judicial renedies
with regard to habeas corpus or violation of basic rights had been restored.

37. M. HAMVARBERG pointed out that as far as violence in the famly was
concerned, legislation, even if it matched article 19 of the Convention on all
poi nts, was not enough. Too many peopl e tol erated such viol ence even while
condemming it. Political |eaders ought to speak out plainly against such
cont enpti bl e behavi our.

38. Turning to the question of health, he noted that information both from
the N gerian Government and from United Nations bodies and NG3s pai nted an
alarmng picture of the situation. In that connection, he stressed the

virtues of preventive neasures, on which the enphasis woul d probably have to
be placed pendi ng an i nprovenent in the economc situation. He asked for
detail s about the position of handi capped children in N geria and neasures
taken to conbat any prejudice agai nst them

39. Mss MASON, referring to question No. 21 in the list of issues, asked
for details concerning the nunber of single-parent famlies in Ngeria. She
al so wondered what the attitude of the population was to such fanilies and



CRC T SR 322
page 8

feared that the children of |one parents mght be stigmatized. Specifically,
she wi shed to know whether the fact that a child s nother was unnarried was
recorded on its birth certificate. On the standard of |iving of such
famlies, she asked whether there were plans for social or financial neasures
to assist them over and above the Food Security Programre for Househol ds.
Was there a national m ni mumwage?

The neeting was suspended at 5.10 p.m and resuned at 5.20 p. m

40. Ms. ATTAH (N geria) said that she did not have exact information on
primary health care in Ngeria. However, priority was given to preventive
care, particularly for people in rural areas who accounted for nost of the
popul ati on. There were many heal th-care centres, but unfortunately they were
not always as effective as they mght be, because of budgetary restrictions,
but some private institutions, such as the Petrol eum Trust Fund, assisted in
that area, helping to make good the shortcom ngs. 1In 1996, with UN CEF aid,

| arge suns had been devoted to buying medi ci nes and nedi cal equi prent.

41. The country had 272 special schools for handi capped children, and the
authorities were trying to give such children access to the regul ar
educational systemat a later stage. Many schools for handi capped children -
blind, deaf or dunb - were run by philanthropic bodies. In addition, there
were two universities and other centres training specialist teachers. A
recently established press would publish educational naterial for blind
children, nmore and nore of whomwere going to university. The authorities
were al so encour agi ng enpl oyers to take on handi capped persons.

42. The role of the extended famly was tending to lose its inportance
because of the inevitable devel opnment of society. There were increasing
nunbers of single-parent fanilies mainly because of divorce. Nevertheless,
children born out of wedl ock were not stigmatized: in Ngeriait was
considered that a child nust always be | ooked after. Birth certificates did
not state whether the child was legitimate or not: the child could bear
either the father's name or the nother's.

43. As far as food security was concerned, two programres had been set up -
the Better Life Programme and the Family Support Programme - which were
designed to assist wormen in rural areas in particular by providing themwith
fertilizers and other products to inprove crops whether intended for sale or
for direct consunption.

44, A mni nrumwage had been fixed by the authorities in Ngeria, but it was
not enough to live on properly: nor indeed were the higher wages. The
situation in country districts caused particul ar concern since wonen s wages
were lower than the norm Her Mnistry would do everything possible to
rectify the situation

45, In connection with the struggle agai nst poverty, the Fam |y Support
Programe assi sted wonen whose husbands had | ost their jobs by giving them
training and |l oans to set up mcro-enterprises. It was hard for wonen to

obtain credit fromtraditional banks, and the Governnent was thinking about
establ i shing a bank exclusively for wonen. Being aware of the difficult
position for workers, the CGovernnent had reduced taxes on the | owest incomes.
In addition, the National Directorate of Enpl oynent was organi zi ng vocationa
training courses for young people and adults.



CRC T SR 322
page 9

46. M. HAMVARBERG asked whether the authorities supervised the heal th work
of the private organizations nentioned by Ms. Attah, which sonetines had
links with foreign institutions. He also noted that there were reportedly
half a mllion people in N geria who were infected with the AIDS virus, and
that estimate was probably |ower than the real figure. Ws the Governnent
taking steps to protect children affected by HV agai nst any discrimnation
agai nst t hen?

47. M ss MASON asked whether there was a social security systemin N geria
and what were the effects of polygany on children's naintenance, custody and
i nheritance rights. Was there a |law on child support? Wat action did the
CGovernnent take to oblige parents to fulfil their responsibilities in regard
t o mai ntenance? She al so wished to know the circunstances in which children
could be taken fromtheir famly environnent and whether there were any cases
of children having suffered physical or sexual ill-treatnment. Wre such
children then separated fromtheir famlies?

48. Lastly, it appeared that none of the States of N geria had an adoption
law. She therefore asked what action had been taken to conmbat corruption in
States with no adoption |laws. Was adopti on common practice in Ngeria - in
particul ar, international adoption? She asked for further information on
access to health care, sex education at school and suicide and pregnancy rates
anong adol escents.

49. Ms. KARP asked whether adol escents could obtain information fromthe
heal th services, e.g. on sex, drugs or AIDS, and have nedi cal treatnent
without their parents' know edge. Did the rural popul ati on have easy access
to such services? At what age could girls have an abortion?

50. Ms. EUFEM O asked what role the comunity played in order to conpensate
for the di sappearance of the extended famly, since the Convention established
the child s right to have a famly. She also asked what distinction was nmade
in N geria between fostering and adopting children.

51. Ms. ATTAH (N geria) said that in Africa the tradition was that in case
of need a worman could give one or nmore of her children to her own nother to
care for. Fostering was a tenporary nmeasure, while adoption was permanent.

52. Private hospitals were duly registered by the federal or national
authorities supervising them Recently the State had threatened to cl ose
several private hospitals which were not up to standard. She regretted that
she did not have specific information on the nunber of children with AIDS, but
stressed that the Mnistry of Health had a programme and a committee to nake
the popul ati on aware of the risks of HV infection.

53. There was no social security systemas such in N geria, but the Mnistry
of Social Protection and the federal and national authorities cared for
newbor n babi es whose nothers had died in childbirth, for elderly or

handi capped persons and persons who needed assi st ance.

54. Cases of a child being removed fromits famly were extrenely rare.
Adoption |egislation did exist throughout N geria, but varied fromone State
to another. Traditional mnedicine was widely used in N geria, particularly in
rural areas, and patients did not hesitate to turn to it when nodern nedici ne
did not give themsatisfaction. There were no cases of adol escent suicides,



CRC T SR 322
page 10

but there were cases of adol escent pregnancies. Neverthel ess, abortion was
prohi bited unless the birth of the child woul d endanger the nmother’s health.
Singl e nothers coul d recei ve assistance fromvarious public and private

or gani zat i ons.

55. N geria had no statistics on single parent famlies. As far as sex
education was concerned, officials fromthe Mnistry of Health regularly
visited schools to give pupils information about the dangers of drug taking,
abortion and HV infection.

The neeting rose at 6 p.m




